Canopy management strategies for improved and sustainable productivity Part 2: completing research and supporting on-farm assessment by growers

Dr Trevor Olesen NSW Department of Primary Industries

Project Number: MC11000

MC11000

This report is published by Horticulture Australia Ltd to pass on information concerning horticultural research and development undertaken for the macadamia industry.

The research contained in this report was funded by Horticulture Australia Ltd with the financial support of: Gray Plantations the macadamia industry

All expressions of opinion are not to be regarded as expressing the opinion of Horticulture Australia Ltd or any authority of the Australian Government.

The Company and the Australian Government accept no responsibility for any of the opinions or the accuracy of the information contained in this report and readers should rely upon their own enquiries in making decisions concerning their own interests.

ISBN 0 7341 3304 9

Published and distributed by: Horticulture Australia Ltd Level 7 179 Elizabeth Street Sydney NSW 2000 Telephone: (02) 8295 2300 Fax: (02) 8295 2399

© Copyright 2014



Canopy management strategies for improved and sustainable productivity Part 2: completing research and supporting on-farm assessment by growers

MC11000

Final report, 31 December 2013



Lisa McFadyen, David Robertson, Stephen Morris and Trevor Olesen

NSW Department of Primary Industries

	Project details
Project title	Canopy management strategies for improved and sustainable productivity Part 2: completing research and supporting on-farm assessment by growers
HAL project number	MC11000
Project leader	Dr Trevor Olesen NSW Department of Primary Industries Wollongbar Primary Industries Institute 1243 Bruxner Highway, Wollongbar NSW 2477
	Telephone: 02 6626 1198 Facsimile: 02 6628 1744
	Email: trevor.olesen@dpi.nsw.gov.au
Other key personnel	Dr Lisa McFadyen, David Robertson and Stephen Morris
Purpose of the report	To assess a range of canopy management options for macadamia, specifically early central leader training, root pruning, girdling and strategically timed hedging
Funding sources	This project has been funded by HAL using the macadamia industry levy and matched funds from the Australian Government, and by the NSW Government and the University of New England
Date of report	31 December 2013

Any recommendations contained in this publication do not necessarily represent current Horticulture Australia Limited policy. No person should act on the basis of the contents of this publication, whether as to matters of fact or opinion or other content, without first obtaining specific, independent, professional advice in respect of the matters set out in this publication

Contents	
	Page
Media summary	2
Technical summary	3
Chapter 1	6
Effects of early tree training on tree size and production	
Chapter 2	19
Effects of root pruning on the shoot growth and fruit production of macadamia	
Chapter 3	29
Effects of trunk girdling on the shoot growth and fruit production of macadamia	
Chapter 4	37
Responses of macadamia to the timing of annual hedging across four seasons	
Chapter 5	45
Miscellaneous activities	
Technology transfer	48
Recommendations	51
Acknowledgements	53

Media summary

There are pressing needs to keep macadamia trees small and productive. High amongst these is increasing light to the orchard floor. Increased light leads to more groundcover, which mitigates erosion caused by heavy rains and management practices such as sweeping and harvesting. In Project MC11000 the authors report on four techniques to control tree size.

The first technique is early tree training. The current industry recommendation is to train young trees to a central leader, but the authors found that this resulted in yield losses during the early years of production. Minimal pruning, focusing on the removal of bad crotch angles, may be a better approach.

The second technique is root pruning. The authors found it to be a useful technique in slowing the growth of trees without reducing yield, but more work is needed before it can be recommended commercially, especially in terms of suitable machinery and frequency of pruning.

The third technique is trunk girdling. It too slowed the growth of trees without reducing yield. The technique might be adopted immediately, but would benefit from further research into the width and depth of the girdle.

The fourth technique is the strategic timing of hedging. The current industry recommendation is to hedge trees in late spring or early summer, to avoid competition between early fruit development and the post-hedging flush. The recommendation was based on short term studies. In a four-year study, the authors did not detect differences in cumulative yields for tree subjected to annual pruning at different times of the year, but they did find significant yield differences between treatments in some years. The industry recommendation stands, but there are clearly complexities here that need further examination.

Technical summary

Introduction

Control of tree size will deliver several improvements to typical macadamia orchards. Soil erosion will decrease as groundcovers benefit from increased sunlight. Harvest quality and control of pathogens will improve due to increased ventilation. Machinery access will be easier and pest control more efficient. The challenge for industry has been to develop cost-effective strategies to control tree size that minimise yield reduction. The primary purpose of the current report is to examine the merits of four strategies: early tree training, root pruning, trunk girdling and strategically timed hedging.

Early tree training

The current industry recommendation for the training of young trees is to prune the trees to a central leader, mostly for structural stability, but there is little science to support this recommendation. We planted a new orchard to specifically address this question, using two varieties, '246' and '816', and two treatments, training to a central leader and a minimally pruned control. The varieties and treatments were replicated in five plots. Training to a central leader reduced cumulative yields over the first three years of production by 16% in '246' and 23% in '816'. Central leader training had no obvious effects on fruit characteristics. '246' produced 67% more 'nut-in-shell' in the first three years of production than '816'. '816' had a larger average 'nut-in-shell' weight, a higher kernel recovery and a higher percentage of first grade kernel than '246'. The early training of the upright variety '816' appeared to improve its resistance to storm damage, but no such effect was seen in the more spreading variety '246'. The yield penalty in training young trees to a central leader is such that industry should reconsider its recommendation.

Root pruning

Root pruning is a method for slowing the vegetative growth of horticultural trees. We conducted two experiments that compared trees that were root pruned on three occasions over four year with control trees that were not root pruned. One experiment was with variety '849', with six 3-tree plot replicates per treatment. The second experiment was with variety 'A4', with nine individual tree replicates per treatment. The second grantlel with the tree row at 1-1.2 m from the trunk on both sides of the tree. Root pruning reduced the shoot growth of both varieties, and the effects seemed to persist for at least two vegetative flushing cycles. No yield reduction due to root pruning was detected. The technique has promise, but more work is needed, especially into alternative methods of root pruning, and into the frequency of intervention.

Trunk girdling

Trunk girdling is commonly used in tree crops to restrict growth and increase yields. We compared trees that were trunk girdled on four occasions over five years with control trees that were not girdled, using variety '849', with eight 3-tree plot replicates per treatment. The trees were girdled using a small electrical router to remove a ring of bark, 6 mm wide, from around the whole trunk. Girdling slowed the height growth of the trees, but had no effect on the cumulative yield. The lack of a yield response may have related to the narrowness of the girdle used. The technique has immediate applications, but would benefit from further work into the effects of different girdle widths and depths on growth and production.

Strategically timed hedging

Late spring or early summer is the current industry recommendation for the sidehedging of trees. This avoids the competition between early fruit development and post-hedging flush development that occurs when trees are hedged in early spring. The recommendation is based on short term studies. We conducted a 4-year study of trees hedged annually in June, September, December or February (the following year) relative to trees that were not hedged. The work was conducted in a 20-year-old commercial orchard on variety '344'. The analyses were based on seven 3-tree plot replicates per treatment. There was no evidence that the timing of hedging affected cumulative yields. In one season early summer hedging significantly increased yields relative to the other hedging times, but in the subsequent season the same hedging time significantly decreased yields. The cumulative yield of the control trees was much greater than that of the hedged trees. The results are not sufficient to change the current industry recommendation on hedging, but do point to complexities that warrant further investigation.

Chapter 1

Effects of early tree training on tree size and production

Introduction

NSW DPI initiated and funded the establishment of an early tree training trial at the Centre for Tropical Horticulture, Alstonville, in northern NSW. The trial was planted in March 2007. From 2009 the trial was jointly funded by NSW DPI, Horticulture Australia Limited and levy contributions from the Australian macadamia industry.

The purpose of the trial was to examine the merits of the current recommendation to train young trees to a central leader. The justification for the trial was the lack of scientific evidence to support the recommendation. The only previous research into early tree training found that training to a central leader caused a substantial yield penalty in the early years of production relative to non-pruned trees (Trochoulias 1983). However, the pruning in this study was more intensive than recommended by industry, and the relevance of the study has been questioned.

The initial results from our trial were presented in MC09003 (McFadyen *et al.* 2011) including tree dimensions from 2008 until 2011, yields in 2011, and flowering in 2010 and 2011. Consistent with Trochoulias (1983) the yields in 2011, the first year of production, were substantially lower for the trees trained to a central leader than for the minimally pruned control trees. This was true for both the spreading variety '246' and the upright variety '816'. However, the yields in the first year of production were low and there was interest in the extent to which the yield penalty would persist into subsequent years of production. For this reason the trial was monitored through two more harvest seasons. For completeness, the results of the whole trial are presented here.

Materials and methods

The two varieties used in the trial, '246' and '816', are believed to be *M. integrifolia* (Peace *et al.* 2004). The trees were grafted onto 'H2' seedling rootstocks and planted in March 2007 in north – south rows at 7×3.9 m spacings at the Centre for Tropical Horticulture, Alstonville (28.9°S, 153.5°E). Two treatments were applied to each variety: training to a central leader and a minimally pruned control.

All trees were pruned back to a single stem in June 2007. The remaining stem on each tree was then topped at three to four nodes above the rootstock. The control trees were not pruned again. The trained trees were pruned by largely following the guidelines described by O'Hare et al. (2004) with the following variations. After topping, buds in two of the three axils in the uppermost whorl on the stem were removed. The idea here was that the remaining bud would form the central leader without competition from other shoots at that node, and that shoots from the node below would form the first layer of scaffold branches. However, in August 2007, we observed that the shoot from the uppermost whorl on around 30% of the pruned trees had been lost or was stunted whereas shoots from the node below had grown more vigorously. Given this, the trees were topped back 10 to 15 mm above the second node and a central leader and scaffold branches were selected from the shoots at that node. At subsequent prunings, if no branches had formed on the central leader within approximately 60 cm of the last layer of scaffold branches, the leader was topped to promote branching. Dense whorls of branches that had developed on scaffold branches close to the trunk were thinned to outside branches to encourage horizontal Long unbranched scaffolds were tipped to promote branching and growth. development of flowering wood. After August 2007 trees were pruned in November 2007, March and September 2008, and April 2009. At the final pruning the uppermost node of the central leader of many trees could no longer be reached from the ground.

The four treatments (two varieties x two training systems) were arranged in a randomised complete block design, with five blocks, one plot of each treatment per block, and each plot comprising 4 x 4 trees (i.e. 16 trees in a rectangular

arrangement). Yield and fruit quality measurements were made on the fully buffered central four trees of each plot.

The fresh weights of prunings were measured at each pruning time except at the remediation pruning in August 2007. In November 2007 the prunings were also dried at 60°C and weighed.

Tree height was measured in July-September from 2008 to 2013 and canopy width was measured in January 2009 and in June-July from 2009 to 2012. Canopy widths were not measured in 2013 because the trees were side hedged in December 2012 to maintain machinery access. Flower racemes were counted around anthesis in 2010 and 2011. Fruit were harvested from the trees in April 2011, and from the ground in 2012 and 2013, at approximately monthly intervals from April until September.

The harvested fruit were dehusked and samples of 100 nuts were taken from each plot to determine moisture content, based on a standard drying sequence of 2 days at 38 °C, 2 days at 45 °C and 2 days at 60 °C. The moisture content was used to calculate yields and average 'nut-in-shell' (NIS) weights at 10% moisture content, which is the industry standard.

In 2013, the fruit were further assessed for kernel recovery, the percentage of unsound kernel and the percentage of first grade kernel. Kernel recovery is the kernel weight expressed as a percentage of the total NIS weight. Unsound kernel is kernel affected by insect damage, mould or decay, or characterised by immaturity, discolouration, germination or rancidity (Anonymous 1995) and is expressed relative to the NIS on a percentage weight by weight basis. First grade kernel is sound kernel with an oil content of 72% or more, based on whether or not it floats in tap water (Mason and Wills 1983) and is expressed relative to the total sound kernel weight on a percentage weight basis.

All the trees in the trial, including all the buffer trees in the plots, were assessed for storm damage on 25 May 2009 and on 29 January 2013, each time shortly after a severe storm.

Linear mixed models were used to explain trait variability, according to fixed effects of variety, pruning, season and their interactions. Spatial variability in the orchard was estimated by random effects associated with row position and column position. Potential correlation between repeat measures on each plot was accommodated by inclusion of random plot effects. Raceme counts were analysed on the logarithmic scale to force compliance with assumptions of the analysis. Null hypothesis significance tests for the fixed effects were conducted by calculation of F-ratio statistics. The models were used to predict average levels and standard error of each trait for each variety, pruning practice and season. Estimates of least significant difference at 5% critical value were also calculated to enable statistical inference for specific effects. Statistical analyses were conducted in the R environment (R core team 2013) including tools from the asreml package (Butler *et al.* 2009).

Storm damage, representing the number of trees lodged, split or snapped, was analysed using the G-test with the William's correction (Sokal and Rohlf 1995).

Results

The control trees and the trees trained to a central leader were pruned in the same fashion on the first pruning date, with similar amounts of material removed from both treatments (Table 1.1). Thereafter only the trained trees were pruned, with a small remediation pruning in August 2007 (data not shown) and more intensive pruning on four later occasions (Table 1.1). In total, about 8-times more material was removed from the central leader trees than from the control trees.

The early yields of the central leader trees were consistently lower than those of the control trees. Statistically important (P < 0.05) reductions in average yield due to pruning were detected in 2011 for the '246' trees and in 2012 for the '816' trees (Table 1.2). Statistically significant increases in average yield over time were detected within all varieties and treatments (P < 0.05) which was at least partly related to the maturation of the trees. There was a significant interaction effect (P < 0.05) of variety and season. This may have been related to the earlier commencement of production in '246'.

The cumulative yields of the trained trees over the first three years of production were 16% lower than the control trees for '246' and 23% lower for '816' (Table 1.2). The cumulative yields of '246' were 67% higher than those of '816' (Table 1.2).

The fruit harvested in one year was set from the flowering in the previous year (e.g. the 2011 harvest was set at flowering in 2010). There was more flowering in the control trees than in the central leader trees (P < 0.05; Table 1.2) and more flowering in '246' than in '816' (P < 0.05), consistent with the trends in yields. There was also a significant seasonal effect (P < 0.05), and a significant variety × season interaction (P < 0.05), again consistent with the trends in yields.

With respect to average NIS weights (Table 1.2), nuts from '246' were significantly lighter than those from '816' (P < 0.05). Small (< 1 g) but statistically important increases in nut size over time were observed (P < 0.05). Varietal differences were inconsistent over the three seasons as evidenced by a significant interaction (P < 0.05). No effect of early tree training was detected (P < 0.05).

There was no effect of early tree training on kernel recovery or the percentages of first grade or unsound kernel in 2013 (P > 0.05; Table 1.3). '816' had higher kernel recovery and a higher percentage of first grade kernel than '246' (P < 0.05).

Tree heights were unaffected by early tree training (P > 0.05; Table 1.4) and were similar for the two varieties (P > 0.05).

Early tree training affected canopy widths across and along the row (Table 1.4). In essence, early tree training reduced the widths of the canopies, but the central leader trees had much the same dimensions as the control trees by the end of the experiment. Canopy widths were similar for the two varieties (P > 0.05).

The control trees of '816' sustained more storm damage than the '816' trees trained to a central leader (P < 0.05), with 35 of the 80 control trees lodged and 2 snapped or split, and 22 of the 80 trained trees lodged and 3 snapped or split. Early tree training had no effect on the extent of storm damage in '246' (P > 0.05), with 26 of the 80 control trees lodged and 5 snapped, and 32 of the 80 trained trees lodged and none snapped.

By the end of the study about 20% of the '246' and '816' trees initially trained to a central leader had developed co-dominant leaders.

Discussion

The early tree training of macadamia to a central leader resulted in an 18% reduction in yield over the first three years of production, averaged over the two varieties (Table 1.2). Part of the reason for this seems to be related to the flowering habit of macadamia. Macadamia tends to flower on less vigorous branches (Wilkie *et al.* 2009) in the shadier parts of the canopy (Olesen *et al.* 2011). Central leader training involves the removal of subordinate branches, which improves the illumination of the remaining branches. For macadamia, this might be paraphrased as removing fruiting wood and making the canopy environment less conducive for flowering. There was evidence for this in the raceme numbers per tree (Table 1.2), with more flowering on the control trees than on the pruned trees in both 2010 and 2011.

The response of young macadamia trees to training was similar to that for the training of trees in the early years of production. Olesen *et al.* (2011) found that light selective limb removal in 6-year-old '849' trees resulted in a yield penalty, while pruning to a central leader resulted in an even greater penalty.

Early tree training reduced the size of the canopies (Table 1.4) and this too might have had a detrimental effect on yields, given that macadamia production tends to increase with increasing orchard light interception (McFadyen *et al.* 2004 & 2013).

That the trained trees had lower crop loads than the control trees may help explain why the trained trees achieved canopy sizes similar to those of the control trees by the end of the experiment because crop load is negatively correlated with branch elongation (Wilkie 2009). Early tree training had no detectable effect on the measured nut characteristics: average NIS weight, kernel recovery or the percentages of first grade or unsound kernel (Table 1.3).

The cropping pattern of the trees in our study was typical of that of commercial orchards, with no yield in the first few years after planting, then an exponential increase in yield in the first few years of production. However, macadamia does have large year to year variations in yield (McFadyen *et al.* 2004 & 2013) and it is not clear the extent to which these have distorted the developmental response. The side-hedging in December 2012 may have reduced crop loads in 2013 through competition effects between post-hedging vegetative flush development and early fruit set, and through reductions in canopy size and thus carbon assimilation (McFadyen *et al.* 2012).

The yields of '246' were greater than those of '816' on trees of a similar size (Tables 1.2 & 1.4). However, '816' does have some traits that might commend it, including a larger NIS weight (Table 1.2), a higher kernel recovery and a higher percentage of first grade kernel (Table 1.3).

Early tree training to a central leader improved the resistance of the upright variety '816' to storm damage, but had little effect on the susceptibility of the more spreading variety '246'. Most of the damage was in the form of the lodging of trees, which crudely equates with the drag of the whole canopy. The incidence of tree snapping or splitting, two quite different forms of mechanical failure, was too low to analyse separately.

In summary, the current industry recommendation of training young trees to a central leader ought to be reconsidered. Minimal pruning of young trees, to remove poor crotch angles for the sake of structural stability, appears to be a better option.

References

- Anonymous (1995) Recommended standards for sampling and nut-in-shell evaluation. *Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin* **22**(3), 12-14.
- Butler D, Cullis B, Gilmour AR, Gogel B (2009) Asreml-R reference manual. DPI&F Publications Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries GPO Box 46 Brisbane Qld. URL <u>http://www.vsn-intl.com/products/asreml/</u>
- Mason RL, Wills, RBH (1983) Evaluation of the use of specific gravity as an objective index of the quality of Australian macadamia nuts. *Food Technology in Australia* **35**, 245-8.
- McFadyen LM, Morris SG, Oldham MA, Huett DO, Meyers NM, Wood J, McConchie CA (2004) The relationship between orchard crowding, light interception, and productivity in macadamia. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 55, 1029-1038.
- McFadyen L, Robertson D, Olesen T (2011) Canopy management strategies for improved and sustainable productivity. MC09003. (Horticulture Australia Limited, Sydney, Australia)
- McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2012) Time of pruning affects fruit abscission, stem carbohydrates and yield of macadamia. *Functional Plant Biology* 39, 481-492.
- McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2013) Production trends in mature macadamia orchards and the effects of selective limb removal, side-hedging, and topping on yield, nut characteristics, tree size, and economics. *HortTechnology* **23**, 64-73.
- O'Hare P, Quinlan K, Stephenson R, Vock N (2004) 'Growing guide: Macadamia grower's handbook.' (Queensland Department of Primary Industries, Brisbane, Australia)
- Olesen T, Huett D, Smith G (2011) The production of flowers, fruit and leafy shoots in pruned macadamia trees. *Functional Plant Biology* **38**, 327-336.
- Peace CP, Vithanage V, Neal J, Turnbull CGN, Carroll (2004) A comparison of molecular markers for genetic analysis of macadamia. *Journal of Horticultural Science & Biotechnology* 79, 965-970.

- R Core Team (2013) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL http://www.Rproject.org/
- Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ (1995) Biometry, third edition. (WH Freeman and Company, New York, USA)
- Trochoulias T (1983) The effect of training on growth and early cropping of macadamia. In 'Proceedings of the First Australian Macadamia Research Workshop' (Eds RA Stephenson, EC Gallagher). (Queensland Department of Primary Industries, Brisbane, Australia)
- Wilkie JD (2009) Interactions between the vegetative growth, flowering and yield of macadamia (*Macadamia integrifolia*, *M. integrifolia* x *M. tetraphylla*) in a canopy management context. (PhD thesis, University of New England, Australia)
- Wilkie JD, Sedgley M, Morris S, Muldoon S, Olesen T (2009) Characteristics of flowering stems and raceme position in macadamia. *Journal of Horticultural Science & Biotechnology* 84, 387-392.

Table 1.1. Fresh weights of prunings for minimally pruned control trees and trees that received early training to a central leader, for macadamia varieties '246' and '816'

These results were initially presented in MC09003 (McFadyen et al. 2011).

		Fresh weights	Fresh weights of prunings (g)				
	2007 June	2007 November	2008 March	2008 September	2009 April		
'246'							
Control	154						
Central leader	141	34	310	127	687		
'816'							
Control	186						
Central leader	193	46	300	118	649		

Table 1.2. Yields and raceme numbers for minimally pruned control trees and trees that received early training to a central leader, for macadamia varieties '246' and '816'

The least significant difference (lsd) at the 5% level is given for each trait as is the standard error (se).

	2010	2011	2012	2013	Total
Yields per tree (kg NIS)					
'246' Control		3.2	4.9	10.5	18.5
Central leader		3.z 1.8	4.9 4.4	9.4	15.6
'816' Control		0.6	4.0	6.0	11 E
Control Central leader		0.6 0.2	4.8 3.0	6.0 5.8	11.5 8.9
		0.2	010	0.0	0.0
lsd = 1.3					
se = 0.5 se for totals = 0.9					
Pagaman par trag					
Racemes per tree (with natural logarithms					
of counts in brackets)					
'246'					
Control Central leader	255 (5.5)	1719 (7.4)			
Central leader	174 (4.9)	1336 (7.2)			
'816'					
Control	19 (2.9)	551 (6.2)			
Central leader	6 (1.7)	295 (5.6)			
lsd = (0.4)					
se = (0.2)					
Average NIS weight (g)					
'246' Control		7.1	7.3	7.9	
Central leader		7.2	7.3	7.8	
10 4 01					
'816' Control		8.2	8.0	8.6	
Central leader		8.2 8.3	8.0 8.1	8.0 8.7	
		2.0	5	0	
lsd = 0.2					
se = 0.1					

Table 1.3. Kernel recovery and the percentages of first grade and unsound kernel in 2013 for minimally pruned control trees and trees that received early training to a central leader, for macadamia varieties '246' and '816'

The least significant difference (lsd) at the 5% level is given for each trait as is the standard error (se).

Kernel recovery (%)	First grade kernel (%)	Unsound kernel (%)
34.0	96.2	0.4
34.1	96.4	0.5
35.5	99.1	0.4
35.7	99.1	0.6
1.2	2.4	0.5
0.5	0.2	0.9
	recovery (%) 34.0 34.1 35.5 35.7 1.2	recovery (%) kernel (%) 34.0 96.2 34.1 96.4 35.5 99.1 35.7 99.1 1.2 2.4

Table 1.4. Tree heights and canopy widths for minimally pruned control trees and trees that received early training to a central leader, for macadamia varieties '246' and '816'

The least significant difference (lsd) at the 5% level is given for each trait as is the standard error (se).

	2008	2009 January	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
Tree height (m) '246'							
Control Central leader	1.8 1.8		2.7 2.6	3.4 3.6	4.2 4.3	4.6 4.7	5.1 5.1
'816' Control Central leader	1.8 1.8		2.6 2.5	3.4 3.5	4.2 4.3	4.7 4.8	5.2 5.3
lsd = 0.3 se = 0.1							
Canopy width across row (m)							
Control Central leader		1.2 1.0	1.7 1.3	2.6 2.4	3.7 3.4	4.3 4.2	
'816' Control Central leader		1.3 1.0	1.7 1.3	2.5 2.3	3.5 3.4	4.1 4.2	
lsd = 0.2 se = 0.1							
Canopy width along row (m) '246'							
Control Central leader		1.3 1.0	1.7 1.4	2.8 2.5	3.6 3.5	3.9 3.9	
'816' Control Central leader		1.4 1.0	1.7 1.4	2.7 2.5	3.5 3.4	3.8 3.8	
lsd = 0.2 se = 0.1							

Chapter 2

Effects of root pruning on the shoot growth and fruit production of macadamia

Introduction

Root pruning is a method for slowing the vegetative growth of horticultural trees (Geisler and Ferree 1984; Yang *et al.* 2012). The effects on yield depend on the way in which root pruning is applied, with reports of increases, decreases and no changes in yield.

The method is crude, with extensive short and long term effects on the physiology of the trees. Functions affected include the uptake of water (Black *et al.* 2012) and nutrients (Yang *et al.* 2012), photosynthesis and stomatal conductance (Black *et al.* 2012; Du *et al.* 2012; Yang *et al.* 2012), the production of plant growth regulators (Du *et al.* 2012; Yang *et al.* 2012) and the leaching of pesticide residues from the plants into the soil (Yang *et al.* 2012).

Here we present the results of the first investigation into the effects of root pruning on the shoot growth and fruit production of macadamia. The work was initiated and funded by NSW DPI to complement the work in projects MC09003 and MC11000.

Materials and methods

Two experiments on the effects of root pruning on the yield and canopy development of macadamia were established at the Centre for Tropical Horticulture, Alstonville (28.9°S, 153.5°E) in September 2009, one on 7-year-old trees of variety '849', the other on 12-year-old trees of variety 'A4'. In our experiments trees were root pruned

with a trench digger to a depth of 0.6 m. Trenches were dug parallel with the tree row at 1-1.2 m from the trunk on both sides of the tree. '849'

Twelve plots of 3 trees were restrictively randomised to two 6-plot treatments based on previous management history. One treatment was a control, and the soil around the trees of this treatment was not disturbed. The other treatment was root pruned, with trenches dug alongside the trees of this treatment as described above.

The trees were first root pruned on September 24, 2009. Also on September 24, 2009 both the control and root pruned trees were side-hedged. After hedging, 10 headed branches per tree were tagged. These branches were monitored over the next few months for the number and final length of all new shoots on the first and second post-hedging flushes.

For each plot, fruit were harvested from the ground between March and August 2010 at approximately monthly intervals then de-husked. After de-husking, samples were taken for each plot to determine moisture content so that yields could be expressed at 10% moisture content. The samples were also used to determine average 'nut-in-shell' (NIS) weight at 10% moisture content.

The trees were root pruned for a second time on February 8, 2011 and then again on February 10, 2012. Fruit were harvested and processed for the 2011 and 2012 seasons as above. Fruit from the 2012 harvest were further processed to determine kernel recovery, and the percentages of first grade kernel and unsound kernel, as calculated in Chapter 1.

'A4'

Eighteen individual trees were restrictively randomised to two 9-tree treatments based on tree size and previous management history. One treatment was the control, the other was root pruned. Root pruning occurred on September 15, 2009; February 7, 2011; and January 11, 2012. Immediately following root pruning in 2009, ten branches towards the top of each tree were tagged and monitored for subsequent shoot development as in the previous experiment. The tagging and monitoring was repeated following root pruning in 2011. Harvesting and processing was undertaken as in the previous experiment.

The results from both experiments were analysed by analysis of variance in SigmaStat (Systat Software, San Jose, CA, USA).

Results

ʻ849'

The yields were not significantly different (P > 0.05; Table 2.1) between the control trees and the root pruned trees in 2010, 2011 or 2012, nor was there a significant difference in the cumulative yields over the three years. The yields in 2012 were greater than those in 2010 and 2011 (P < 0.05). The yields in 2010 and 2011 were approximately the same (P > 0.05).

Overall, the NIS weights of the root pruned trees were approximately 3% greater than those of the control trees (P < 0.05; Table 2.1). The NIS weights were approximately the same between years (P > 0.05).

The kernel recoveries and percentages of first grade and unsound kernel were similar for the two treatments in the 2012 harvest (P > 0.05; Table 2.1).

The numbers of shoots to develop on the first and second flushes following sidehedging on September 24, 2009 were similar for the control trees and the root pruned trees (P > 0.05; Table 2.2), with more new shoots on the second flush than on the first (P < 0.05).

The lengths of the new shoots to develop on the first and second flushes following side-hedging on September 24, 2009 were shorter for the root pruned trees than for the control trees (P < 0.05; Table 2.2) and shorter on the first than the second flush (P < 0.05).

'A4'

The yields were not significantly different (P > 0.05; Table 2.3) between the control trees and the root pruned trees in 2010, 2011 or 2012, nor was there a significant difference in the cumulative yields over the three years. The yields in 2012 were smaller than those in 2010 and 2011 (P < 0.05). The yields in 2010 and 2011 were approximately the same (P > 0.05).

The NIS weights of the root pruned trees were similar to those of the control trees (P > 0.05; Table 2.3). The NIS weights in 2012 were lower than those in 2010 and 2011 (P < 0.05). No difference in NIS weight was detected in 2010 and 2011 (P > 0.05).

The kernel recoveries and percentages of first grade and unsound kernel were similar for the two treatments in the 2012 harvest (P > 0.05; Table 2.3).

The numbers of shoots to develop on the first and second flushes following root pruning on September 15, 2009 were similar for the control trees and the root pruned trees (P > 0.05; Table 2.4), with fewer new shoots on the second flush than on the first (P < 0.05).

The numbers of shoots to develop on the first and second flushes following root pruning on February 7, 2011 were similar for the control trees and the root pruned trees (P > 0.05; Table 2.4), with similar numbers of new shoots on the first and second flushes (P > 0.05).

The lengths of the new shoots to develop on the first and second flushes following root pruning on September 15, 2009 were similar for the control trees and the root pruned trees (P > 0.05; Table 2.4). The new shoots on the first flush were shorter than those on the second flush (P < 0.05).

The lengths of the new shoots to develop on the first and second flushes following root pruning on February 7, 2011 were shorter for the root pruned trees than for the control trees (P < 0.05; Table 2.4) and shorter on the first than the second flush (P < 0.05).

Discussion

Root pruning is an effective means of reducing shoot length in macadamia. In '849' the shoot lengths on the first flush following the first round of root pruning were 33% shorter than those on the control trees, while the shoots on the second flush were 9% shorter (Table 2.2). In 'A4', while there was no evidence of an effect of root pruning on shoot development after the first round of root pruning, there was after the second round, with 26% shorter shoots on the first flush and 17% shorter shoots on the second flush (Table 2.4). Two flushes of vegetative growth take a few months to complete (Wilkie *et al.* 2009) so the results indicate a persistent effect of root pruning. This is consistent with work on Chinese jujube where effects on shoot length were evident in the second season following root pruning (Yang *et al.* 2012).

No effects of root pruning on yields or nut characteristics were detected, except for a slight increase in NIS weight in '849' (Tables 2.1 & 2.3).

Shoot lengths were consistently shorter on the first than on the second flush (Tables 2.2 & 2.4) against backgrounds of greater ('A4'), similar ('A4') or fewer ('849') shoot numbers, and for different times of the year (spring-summer or late summerautumn shoot development for 'A4'). The results for the spring-summer monitored 'A4' and '849' trees are at odds with the findings of Wilkie *et al.* (2009) and McFadyen *et al.* (2012) who found shorter shoot lengths in the warmer months. The reasons for the differences are unclear but may partly relate to the higher shoot numbers on the first flush for the 'A4' trees, and to the severity of hedging for the '849' trees.

Root pruning appears to be a useful technique for reducing the frequency of pruning and hedging in macadamia orchards. The method we employed for experimental purposes is too labour intensive for commercial purposes, so more work is needed to assess the effects of root pruning by a tractor-mounted blade.

References

- Black MZ, Patterson KJ, Gould KS, Clearwater MJ (2012) Physiological responses of kiwifruit vines (*Actinidia chinensis* Planch. var. *chinensis*) to trunk girdling and root pruning. *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science* 40, 31-41.
- Du ZY, Xing SJ, Ma BY, Liu FC, Ma HL, Wang QH (2012) Effects of root pruning on the growth and rhizosphere soil characteristics of short-rotation closed canopy poplar. *Forest Systems* 21, 236-246.
- Geisler D, Ferree DC (1984) Response of plants to root pruning. Annual Review of Horticultural Science 6, 155-188.
- McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2012) Time of pruning affects fruit abscission, stem carbohydrates and yield of macadamia. *Functional Plant Biology* **39**, 481-492.
- Wilkie JD, Sedgley M, Olesen T (2009) A model of vegetative flush development and its potential use managing macadamia (*Macadamia integrifolia*) tree canopies. Crop & Pasture Science 60, 420-426.
- Yang S, Du Z, Yu Y, Che Y, Yuan C, Xing S (2012) Effect of root pruning on competitive ability in Chinese jujube tree. *Fruits* 67, 429-437.

Table 2.1. Effects of root pruning on the yields and fruit characteristics of macadamia variety '849'

Each treatment comprised six 3-tree plots. Statistical comparisons are made in the Results section.

	Yield (NIS kg/tree)	NIS weight (g)	Kernel recovery (%)	First grade kernel (%)	Unsound kernel (%)
2010					
Control	5.2	7.0			
Root pruned	5.7	7.2			
2011					
Control	6.4	7.1			
Root pruned	4.7	7.6			
2012					
Control	7.4	7.2	43.8	87.8	5.4
Root pruned	8.7	7.2	44.3	89.3	4.9
Standard errors	0.7	0.11	0.2	0.9	0.4

Table 2.2. Shoot development of the first two flushes following root pruning in2009, for macadamia variety '849'

Each treatment comprised six 3-tree plots. Ten headed branches were monitored for each tree. Statistical comparisons are made in the Results section.

	Shoot number per branch	Average shoot length (mm)	
First flush			
Control	3.3	61.1	
Root pruned	2.7	40.9	
Second flush			
Control	3.6	143.6	
Root pruned	3.4	130.4	
Standard errors	0.15	5.3	

Table 2.3. Effects of root pruning on the yields and fruit characteristics of macadamia variety 'A4'

Each treatment comprised nine individual trees. Statistical comparisons are made in the Results section.

Yield (NIS kg/tree)	NIS weight (g)	Kernel recovery (%)	First grade kernel (%)	Unsound kernel (%)
12.9	9.3			
11.3	9.2			
11.6	9.0			
9.4	9.0			
5.3	8.2	43.6	96.5	1.7
4.2	8.1	44.2	97.6	2.2
0.9	0.12	0.3	1.2	0.2
	(NIS kg/tree) 12.9 11.3 11.6 9.4 5.3 4.2	(NIS kg/tree) (g) 12.9 9.3 11.3 9.2 11.6 9.0 9.4 9.0 5.3 8.2 4.2 8.1	(NIS kg/tree) (g) recovery 12.9 9.3 11.3 9.2 11.6 9.0 9.4 9.0 5.3 8.2 43.6 4.2 8.1 44.2	(NIS kg/tree) (g) recovery (%) kernel (%) 12.9 9.3 11.3 9.2 11.6 9.0 9.4 9.0 5.3 8.2 43.6 96.5 4.2 8.1 44.2 97.6

Table 2.4. Shoot development of the first two flushes following root pruning in2009, for macadamia variety 'A4', and then again following a second rootpruning in 2011

Each treatment comprised nine individual trees. Ten branches were monitored for each tree. Statistical comparisons are made in the Results section.

	Shoot number per branch	Average shoot length (mm)	
Root pruned Septemb	er 2009		
First flush			
Control	1.3	106.0	
Root pruned	1.3	122.9	
Second flush			
Control	0.6	202.8	
Root pruned	0.3	203.3	
Standard errors	0.12	12	
Root pruned February	2011		
First flush			
Control	1.6	116.8	
Root pruned	1.2	86.3	
Second flush			
Control	1.4	152.0	
Root pruned	1.1	126.4	
Standard errors	0.11	6.5	

Chapter 3

Effects of trunk girdling on the shoot growth and fruit production of macadamia

Introduction

Trunk girdling is commonly used in horticulture to increase tree yields and to suppress vegetative shoot development (McFadyen *et al.* 2013). It involves the removal of a narrow ring of phloem from around the trunk, restricting the flow of carbohydrates and plant growth regulators from the canopy to the roots, without affecting the flow of water from the roots to the canopy. It needs to be used judiciously. As a form of ring-barking it has the potential to weaken or kill trees.

As with root-pruning in the previous chapter, girdling is a crude intervention that affects a broad range of plant functions. Carbohydrates tend to accumulate above the girdle (Cormack and Bate 1976) and photosynthesis and stomatal conductance tend to decrease (Sellin *et al.* 2013), possibly because of feedback inhibition from the elevated levels of carbohydrates. Respiration rates increase above the girdle and decrease below the girdle (Domec and Pruyn 2008) and the metabolism of plant growth regulators is also affected (Kong *et al.* 2012).

There has been little research on the use of trunk girdling for the production of macadamia. Stephenson *et al.* (1989) used a very narrow girdle (1 mm) and found no significant effect on yield. McFadyen *et al.* (2013) used a somewhat wider girdle (6 mm) and found no significant effect on yield in one study, and a variable response to repeated girdling over several seasons in a second study. Here we extend the second study by McFadyen *et al.* (2013) to a fifth season, and analyse the cumulative effects of girdling on yield and tree size across the whole study. The study in question was established and maintained in the first instance by NSW DPI using departmental funds. After the first year, the study was funded by NSW DPI, Horticulture Australia

Limited and levy contributions from the Australian macadamia industry through MC09003 (McFadyen *et al.* 2011).

Materials and methods

The experiment was conducted at the Centre for Tropical Horticulture (CTH) at Alstonville in northern New South Wales (28.9°S, 153.5°E). The soil at the CTH is deep, well-drained, reddish-brown clay (Morand, 1994). The climate is subtropical. The mean maximum temperature ranges from 18.6°C in July to 27.2°C in January, and the mean minimum temperature ranges from 9.9°C in July to 19.5°C in January. The mean annual rainfall is 1825 mm.

The experiment was carried out on trees of variety '849' planted in 1998. Treatments were randomly allocated to paired plots, which each comprised three trees. Eight replications per treatment were distributed across 10 rows. Plots were buffered within the row and in adjacent rows by untreated trees of variety '246'.

Trees were girdled during anthesis on 28 August 2008 and 1 September 2009, allowed to rest in 2010, and girdled again during anthesis on 19 September 2011 and 11 September 2012. The trees were girdled using a small electrical router (Ryobi EVT400K, Techtronic Industries Australia Pty Ltd., Doncaster, Victoria, Australia) to remove a ring of bark, 6 mm wide, from around the whole trunk. Non-girdled trees served as controls.

Tree heights were measured just before the first girdling and then at approximately12month intervals up to July 2013. Standard side-hedging with a commercial hedging machine to maintain the inter-row for orchard management was applied to both treatments on 23 November 2009, 12 September 2011 and 4 December 2012. Fruit were harvested from the ground at 3- to 4-week intervals between March and September from 2009 to 2013, and processed as per Chapter 1. Kernel recoveries and the percentages of first grade and unsound kernel were estimated at the second harvest in each season. Linear mixed models were used to explain variability in each trait as classified by fixed effects of treatment, season and their interaction. Spatial variability in the orchard was estimated by random effects associated with blocks. Null hypothesis tests for the fixed effects were conducted by calculation of F-ratio statistics. The models were used to predict the average and standard error for each trait, for each treatment and season. Estimates of least significant difference at 5% critical value were also calculated to enable statistical inference for effect sizes. Statistical analyses were conducted in the R environment (R core team 2013) including tools from the asreml package (Butler *et al.* 2009).

Results

The yields of the girdled trees were not significantly different from those of the controls in the four seasons in which the trees were girdled (P > 0.05; Table 3.1). In 2011, the one season in which the girdled trees were not girdled, the yields of the girdled trees were lower than those of the controls (P < 0.05).

The cumulative yields across the whole study were approximately the same (65.8 versus 65.0 kg NIS per tree, girdled versus control, standard error = 2.7; i.e. approximately 1% higher in the girdled trees; P > 0.05). The cumulative yields for just the four seasons in which trees were girdled were also approximately the same (52.2 versus 49.4 kg NIS per tree, girdled versus control, standard error = 2.3; i.e. approximately 6% higher in the girdled trees; P > 0.05).

With respect to average NIS weights, there were lower weights for the girdled trees in the four years in which the trees were girdled (P < 0.05; Table 3.1), but no significant difference in weights in 2011 when the girdled trees were not girdled (P > 0.05).

In 2012 the kernel recovery and percentage of first grade kernel were lower in the control trees than in the girdled trees (P < 0.05; Table 3.1). There were no significant differences between treatments in these two characteristics in the other years (P > 0.05).

There were no significant differences between treatments with respect to the percentage of unsound kernel (P < 0.05; Table 3.1).

For yield, average NIS weight, kernel recovery and the percentages of first grade and unsound kernel, there were significant differences between seasons (P < 0.05; Table 3.1).

By the end of the experiment the control trees were significantly taller than the girdled trees by 0.4 m (P < 0.05; Table 3.1).

Discussion

Macadamia production tends to increase with increasing tree size up to very high levels of orchard light interception (McFadyen *et al.* 2004 & 2013). Given that the girdled trees were smaller than the control trees but had comparable cumulative yields (Table 3.1) girdling appears to have increased the efficiency with which the canopies produced fruit. There is further support in that the yields of the girdled trees were lower than those of the control trees in 2011, the one season in which the girdling treatment was not applied to the girdled trees. Krezdorn and Wiltbank (1968) found a similar effect for tangelo, where the cessation of girdling often reduced yields relative to trees that continued to be girdled, to levels similar to those of control trees. However, the reason our trees were rested was because the leaves looked somewhat yellow and sparse, so that our lower yields may have related to tree health.

In the harvest following the first application of the trunk girdles, the girdled trees held a non-significant 8% more crop than the control trees. This compared with a nonsignificant 13% increase in yield for girdled trees in a similar experiment on the same variety ('849'), in the same year using the same girdle width (6 mm; McFadyen *et al.* 2013); and a non-significant 7% increase in girdled trees of variety 'Own Choice' using a 1 mm girdle (Stephenson *et al.* 1989). These increases were low compared with those for citrus (73-400%; Krezdorn and Wiltbank 1968; De Lange *et al.* 1974; Barry and Bower 1997; Rivas *et al.* 2007) and lychee (35%; Roe *et al.* 1997). The reason for this may be the preponderance of rays (horizontal, radial lines of living cells) in macadamia wood, the heights of which are similar to the widths of our girdles (6 mm). These rays may have provided pathways for the leakage of solutes around the girdles (McFadyen *et al.* 2013).

In terms of cumulative yields, there were no significant differences between the girdled trees and the control trees across the whole five years of the study, or for those four seasons in which the trees were girdled. In contrast, the cumulative effect of girdling 'Orlando' tangelo over four years was to increase yields by 65% (Krezdorn and Wiltbank 1968).

In our experiment girdling restricted the proportions of branches with new flushes, the numbers of new shoots per branch, and the lengths of those shoots (McFadyen *et al.* 2013) and, by the end of the experiment, had significantly restricted the heights of the trees (Table 3.1). Given that carbohydrate concentrations tend to be elevated above girdles (Cormack and Bate 1976), changes to the metabolism of plant growth regulators may have played an important role in the restriction of vegetative growth. Plant nutrition may also have been a factor given, for example, the major role amino acids play in the translocation of nitrogen in macadamia, and the likely interactions between the phloem and xylem in such translocation (Fletcher 2001).

In the four seasons in which the girdles were applied the average NIS weight was lower for the girdled trees (Table 3.1). Given that the girdled trees were holding yields similar to those of the control trees on smaller canopies, it may be that the effect was related to greater carbon limitation to NIS growth in the girdled trees. Wilkie (2009) varied the crop load of macadamia by raceme removal at anthesis and found that that average NIS weight decreased with increasing fruit density.

There were only minor differences in the other nut characteristics, with a slightly higher kernel recovery for the girdled trees in 2012, and a slightly higher percentage of first grade kernel for the girdled trees in the same year (Table 3.1).

Girdling is at very least an effective means of restricting the growth of macadamia, thereby reducing the frequency of canopy management interventions. The effects, to date, on increasing yields have been weak, but these might be improved with better techniques. The obvious next step would be to test a range of girdle widths and depths.

References

- Barry GH, Bower JP (1997) Manipulation of fruit set and stylar-end fruit split in 'Nova' mandarin hybrid. *Scientia Horticulturae* **70**, 243-250.
- Butler D, Cullis B, Gilmour AR, Gogel B (2009) Asreml-R reference manual. DPI&F Publications Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries GPO Box 46 Brisbane Qld. URL <u>http://www.vsn-intl.com/products/asreml/</u>
- Cormack DB, Bate GC (1976) Seasonal changes in carbohydrate levels and rooting efficiency of macadamia. *Acta Horticulturae* **57**, 21-28.
- De Lange JH, Skarup O, Vincent AP (1974) The influence of cross-pollination and girdling on fruit set and seed content of citrus 'Ortanique'. *Scientia Horticulturae* **2**, 285-292.
- Domec J-C, Pruyn ML (2008) Bole girdling affects metabolic properties and root, trunk and branch hydraulics of young ponderosa pine trees. *Tree Physiology* 28, 1493-1504.
- Fletcher A (2001) Nitrogen and carbon relations in orchard grown *Macadamia integrifolia* trees. (PhD Thesis, University of Queensland, Australia)
- Kong L, von Aderkas P, Owen SJ, Jaquish B, Woods J, Abrams SR (2012) Effects of stem girdling on cone yield and endogenous phytohormones and metabolites in developing long shoots of Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*). New Forests 43, 491-503.
- Krezdorn AH, Wiltbank WJ (1968) Annual girdling of 'Orlando' tangelos over an eight-year period. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 81, 29-35.
- McFadyen LM, Morris SG, Oldham MA, Huett DO, Meyers NM, Wood J, McConchie CA (2004) The relationship between orchard crowding, light interception, and productivity in macadamia. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 55, 1029-1038.

- McFadyen L, Robertson D, Olesen T (2011) Canopy management strategies for improved and sustainable productivity. MC09003. (Horticulture Australia Limited, Sydney, Australia)
- McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2013) Effects of girdling on fruit abscission, yield and shoot growth in macadamia. *Scientia Horticulturae* **164**, 172–177.
- Morand T (1994) 'Soil landscapes of the Lismore-Ballina 1:100 000 Sheet Report.' (Soil Conservation Service of NSW, Sydney)
- R Core Team (2013) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL http://www.Rproject.org/
- Rivas F, Gravina A, Agusti M (2007) Girdling effects on fruit set and quantum yield efficiency of PSII in two Citrus cultivars. *Tree Physiology* **27**, 527-535.
- Roe DJ, Menzel CM, Oosthuizen JH, Doogan VJ (1997) Effects of current CO2 assimilation and stored reserves on lychee fruit growth. *Journal of Horticultural Science* 72, 397-405.
- Sellin A, Niglas A, Õunapuu E, Karusion A (2013) Impact of phloem girdling on leaf gas exchange and hydraulic conductance in hybrid aspen. *Biologia Plantarum* 57, 531-539.
- Stephenson RA, Gallagher EC, Rasmussen TS (1989) Effects of growth manipulation on carbohydrate reserves of macadamia trees. *Scientia Horticulturae* 40, 227-235.
- Wilkie JD (2009) Interactions between the vegetative growth, flowering and yield of macadamia (*Macadamia integrifolia*, *M. integrifolia* x *M. tetraphylla*) in a canopy management context. (PhD thesis, University of New England, Australia)

Table 3.1. Yields, nut characteristics and tree heights for control trees and treesthat were girdled at anthesis in 2008, 2009, 2011 and 2012, but not in 2010

The least significant difference (lsd) at the 5% level is given for each trait as is the standard error (se).

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
Yields per tree (kg NIS) Control Girdled lsd = 1.9 se = 0.7		14.3 15.5	10.7 10.0	15.6 13.6	12.5 13.6	11.9 13.1
Average NIS weight (g) Control Girdled Isd = 0.18 se = 0.06		7.15 6.89	7.63 7.14	7.35 7.42	7.32 7.10	7.90 7.65
Kernel recovery (%) Control Girdled lsd = 1.0 se = 0.4		44.9 44.6	44.5 43.6	42.7 43.2	40.1 41.7	40.8 40.5
First grade kernel (%) Control Girdled Isd = 3.7 se = 1.3		92.7 93.0	95.7 94.7	92.5 94.3	83.3 87.5	83.2 79.6
Unsound kernel (%) Control Girdled lsd = 1.7 se = 0.7		9.4 10.1	4.1 4.4	3.8 4.2	5.6 5.9	6.5 6.3
Tree height (m) Control Girdled lsd = 0.3 se = 0.1	6.9 7.0	7.2 7.2	7.4 7.2	7.5 7.3	7.7 7.5	7.9 7.5

Chapter 4

Responses of macadamia to the timing of annual hedging across four seasons

Introduction

Macadamia is native to the subtropical parts of the eastern seaboard of Australia, but is grown commercially for its edible kernel in a wide range of countries. In Australian orchards the trees are typically grown in hedgerows, with the trees sidehedged in early spring, around the time of anthesis, for ease of management, not for improved productivity (McFadyen *et al.* 2013). Hedging at this time, however, causes accentuated fruit drop, which seems to be largely related to competition between posthedging shoot development and early fruit set, but to a lesser extent also related to the reduced carbon availability caused by the loss of canopy (McFadyen *et al.* 2011b).

Hedging at other times may be a way of mitigating the yield loss. Hedging in late autumn or early winter seems to be one possibility, allowing some regeneration of the canopy following hedging but before anthesis, and delaying the second post-hedging flush until after fruit set. Such a strategy has been successful at either improving yields or reducing fruit drop in one study, but decreased yields in a second study (McFadyen *et al.* 2012). In a third study, hedging at this time maintained yields relative to a non-hedged control (Wilkie *et al.* 2010).

A second option is to delay hedging until after fruit set, when the fruit are less prone to abscission, in late spring or summer. This strategy substantially improved yields relative to trees hedged at anthesis in four studies, but not in a fifth (McFadyen *et al.* 2012).

The results cited above relate to experiments run for one year. There are good reasons to suspect that the yield responses to hedging at different times of year would be more

complex if examined over several seasons. There is, for example, enormous season to season variability in yields (McFadyen *et al.* 2004) much of which probably relates to weather (eg Wilkie *et al.* 2010) but some of which also relates to true bienniality (Wilkie 2009). There are also potential influences of the hedging times on flowering, either through an effect on the phase of the cycle of flush development (Olesen 2005; Wilkie *et al.* 2010) or on the availability of carbohydrates for growth (McFadyen *et al.* 2012) or on the size and number of shoots (Wilkie *et al.* 2009). There are also good reasons to suspect that the relative distribution of flowers and fruit within the canopy change as trees and orchards age, even though there is little in the way of data to support this. Salter *et al.* (2005) did find that the distance from branch tip to first flower tended to decrease across a range of macadamia varieties as the trees aged from 5 to 7 years. Changes in the distribution of flowers and fruit might affect tree responses to canopy management practices.

Our purpose then was to examine the effects of annual hedging on large trees at different times of the year across four seasons, on yields and nut characteristics. The work was conducted in a mature commercial orchard using the macadamia variety '344'. The work began under MC09003 and a report on the first two years of the study was given in the final report for that project (McFadyen *et al.* 2011a). For completeness, the results of the whole trial are presented here.

Materials and methods

Experimental design

The work was conducted in a 20-year-old commercial orchard at Eureka (29.08°S, 146.20°E) in northern New South Wales, planted on a deep, well-drained reddish brown clay loam (Morand 1994). The orchard mostly comprised alternate rows of varieties '344' and '741', aligned north-south with 10 m between the rows and 3 m between the trees within the row. The orchard was managed according to industry guidelines (O'Hare *et al.* 2004).

The trial was established in 2009 using variety '344'. Across 8 rows, 45 plots of 3 adjacent trees were selected. Each plot was buffered by at least one tree, treated in the same fashion as the plot trees, on either side within the row, and by adjacent rows of variety '741', which were side-hedged annually in the spring. The plots were restrictively randomised to 5 treatments: a control that was not hedged during the course of the experiment and 4 annual side-hedging regimes timed for June, September, December or February (the following year); such that there were 9 plots per treatment.

A commercial hedger was used to apply the hedging treatments. Three cuts were made on each side of the hedgerow: two vertical cuts on the lower part of the canopy and a third cut at the top of the canopy angled slightly towards the centre of the row.

After each hedging, trees were visited regularly to note the approximate time of posthedging bud release, and to make qualitative assessments of the progress of posthedging flush development, the stage of flower development, and the degree of fruit set.

Fruit were harvested from the ground between March and August at 4- to 6-week intervals, and processed as per Chapter 1. Kernel recoveries and the percentages of first grade and unsound kernel were estimated at the first harvest in each season.

Statistical analyses

The original 9 plots per treatment were reduced to 7 plots per treatment owing to problems with tree health, or to miscommunication with the harvesting contractor, which resulted in incomplete harvest records for some plots. Linear mixed models were used to estimate fixed effects of treatment, season and their interaction. Random effects due to the plots were estimated to account for the correlation between the repeated observations on each plot. Additional variation due to location in the orchard was examined by including random effects of row and tree position. The statistical importance of the fixed effects was assessed by Wald statistics and the random effects were tested by reduction in Akaike Information Criteria when compared with a model that excluded a spatial component. The models were used to predict average levels of each trait and their standard error for each treatment and season. Estimates of least significant difference at 5% critical value were also calculated to enable statistical inference for effect sizes. Statistical analyses were conducted in the R environment (R core team 2013) including tools from the asreml package (Butler *et al.* 2009).

Results

The canopies of the control trees became progressively larger than those of the hedged trees over the course of the experiment. The yields of the control trees were greater than those of the hedged trees in 2011 and 2013, and greater than all but those of the December hedged trees in 2012 (P < 0.05; Table 4.1).

The yields of the December hedged trees were greater than those of the September hedged trees in 2012, but lower than those of the September hedged trees in 2013 (P < 0.05; Table 4.1); otherwise there were no significant differences in yields between hedging times (P > 0.05).

There were significant seasonal differences in yield (P < 0.05; Table 4.1).

The average NIS weights of the September hedged trees were lower than those of all other treatments in 2010 and 2011, and lower than all the other hedge treatments in 2013 (P < 0.05; Table 4.1). There were strong seasonal differences in average NIS weight for all treatments (P < 0.05).

There were relatively few differences in kernel recovery and in the percentages of first grade and unsound kernel between treatments (P < 0.05; Table 4.1) but there were significant differences between seasons for all treatments for all three characteristics (P < 0.05).

Discussion

There was little evidence that time of hedging affected yields in large '344' macadamia trees. The only result in line with expectations was in 2012, the year of the highest yields, where the yields of the trees hedged at anthesis in September were lower than those of the trees where hedging was delayed until December (Table 4.1). Against expectations, this result was reversed the following year.

McFadyen *et al.* (2012) found that December hedging increased yields in '344' by 18% in 10-year-old trees and 54% in 17-year-old trees compared with September hedged trees. They also found that November-December hedging increased yields in 'A4' by 77% in 7-year-old trees and 95% in 10-year-old trees. However, for 17-year-old 'A4' trees they found that there were negligible differences in yield between December and September hedging. They speculated that the lack of response in the 17-year-old trees may have been due to the low initial fruit set, which might have reduced the competition for resources between fruit growth and post-pruning shoot growth.

In our experiment, on 20-year-old '344' trees, yields were poor in three of the four seasons, and it may be that crop load was masking a time of hedging effect in these years in a similar fashion to that for the 17-year-old 'A4' trees mentioned above. In the one good season, 2012, December hedging increased yields by 23% compared with September hedging.

In 2013, December hedging decreased yields by 29% compared with September hedging. This might be evidence of true bienniality. Wilkie (2009) found that removing approximately 95% of racemes at anthesis reduced yields in the following harvest, increased the return flowering the following spring, and then increased the fruit density of the subsequent harvest by approximately 150%.

The control trees had much higher cumulative yields than the hedged trees. This was at least partly a function of the control trees developing progressively larger canopies. The control trees were not hedged over the course of the experiment, and their lateral growth would have been further promoted by the hedging of the adjacent buffer rows. Macadamia tends to increase production up to very high levels of light interception (McFadyen *et al.* 2013).

In terms of nut characteristics, the only notable tendency was for September hedged trees to have smaller NIS weights. This might be an indication that carbon limitation to fruit growth during early fruit development, caused by both removal of part of the canopy and by competition with post-hedging regrowth, may affect final fruit size. However, McFadyen *et al.* (2012) found no such effect with varieties '816' and 'A38' in comparisons of June and September hedging, nor with 'A4' in a trial with a control and four hedging times, where September hedged trees had the highest NIS weights.

Along with the complications outlined above in both the Introduction and the Discussion, there were other potentially confounding effects with the experiment, including leaf damage by thrips, leaf miners and monolepta beetles (McFadyen *et al.* 2011a). All these things taken together, there is need for much more work on the long term effects of time of hedging on production in large macadamia trees.

References

- Butler D, Cullis B, Gilmour AR, Gogel B (2009) Asreml-R reference manual. DPI&F Publications Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries GPO Box 46 Brisbane Qld. URL <u>http://www.vsn-intl.com/products/asreml/</u>
- Morand T (1994) 'Soil landscapes of the Lismore-Ballina 1:100 000 Sheet Report.' (Soil Conservation Service of NSW, Sydney, Australia)
- McFadyen L, Robertson D, Olesen T (2011a) Canopy management strategies for improved and sustainable productivity. MC09003. (Horticulture Australia Limited, Sydney, Australia)
- McFadyen LM, Morris SG, Oldham MA, Huett DO, Meyers NM, Wood J, McConchie CA (2004) The relationship between orchard crowding, light interception, and productivity in macadamia. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 55, 1029-1038.

- McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2011b) Postpruning shoot growth increases fruit abscission and reduces stem carbohydrates and yield in macadamia. *Annals of Botany* **107**, 993-1001.
- McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2012) Time of pruning affects fruit abscission, stem carbohydrates and yield of macadamia. *Functional Plant Biology* **39**, 481-492.
- McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2013) Production trends in mature macadamia orchards and the effects of selective limb removal, side-hedging, and topping on yield, nut characteristics, tree size, and economics. *HortTechnology* **23**, 64-73.
- O'Hare P, Quinlan K, Stephenson R, Vock N (2004) 'Growing guide: Macadamia grower's handbook.' (Queensland Department of Primary Industries, Brisbane, Australia)
- Olesen T (2005) The timing of flush development affects the flowering of avocado (*Persea americana*) and macadamia (*Macadamia integrifolia* x *tetraphylla*). *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* **56**, 723-729.
- R Core Team (2013) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL http://www.Rproject.org/
- Salter B, Hardner C, Forrester R, Levitt C, Mathews K, McConchie CA (2005)
 Differences in flower position and shoot growth between macadamia varieties.
 In: 'Assessment protocols for selection and management in macadamia.
 MC00035.' (C Hardner, ed.), pp 126-141. (Horticulture Australia Limited, Sydney, Australia)
- Wilkie JD (2009) Interactions between the vegetative growth, flowering and yield of macadamia (*Macadamia integrifolia*, *M. integrifolia* x *M. tetraphylla*) in a canopy management context. (PhD thesis, University of New England, Australia)
- Wilkie JD, Sedgley M, Morris S, Muldoon S, Olesen T (2009) Characteristics of flowering stems and raceme position in macadamia. *Journal of Horticultural Science & Biotechnology* 84, 387-392.
- Wilkie JD, Sedgley M, Olesen T (2010) The timing of pruning affects flushing, flowering and yield of macadamia. *Crop & Pasture Science* **61**, 588-600.

Table 4.1. Yields and nut characteristics for trees subjected to different annual side-hedging regimes, or which were not hedged (control trees)

The side-hedged trees were hedged once annually, either in June, September, December or February (the following year). The least significant difference (lsd) at the 5% level is given for each trait as is the standard error (se).

	2010	2011	2012	2013
Yields per tree (kg NIS)				
Control	11.8	11.2	20.4	14.9
June	10.6	6.5	15.9	10.2
September	12.9	8.0	15.0	10.6
December	12.9	7.9	18.5	7.5
February	11.6	7.2	15.8	8.8
lsd = 3				
se = 1				
Average NIS weight (g)				
Control	8.2	7.5	7.0	8.2
June	8.1	7.6	6.9	8.4
September	7.6	7.1	6.9	8.0
December	8.0	7.5	6.7	8.4
February	7.9	7.6	6.7	8.4
lsd = 0.3				
se = 0.1				
Kernel recovery (%)				
Control	30.5	30.4	28.5	31.3
June	30.1	29.4	28.8	30.8
September	31.6	30.5	29.6	30.9
December	30.9	30.2	28.9	30.8
February	30.2	30.8	28.6	31.3
lsd = 1.1				
se = 0.5				
First grade kernel (%)				
Control	89.1	71.8	83.2	79.1
June	91.6	69.9	80.3	77.7
September	92.8	72.2	82.7	78.4
December	87.6	70.5	79.4	82.0
February	90.2	74.6	83.1	82.0
lsd = 5				
se = 1.9				
Unsound kernel (%)				
Control	2.9	5.1	2.5	2.0
June	3.4	5.4	2.0	2.9
September	3.3	5.1	1.9	3.0
December	3.8	5.4	2.8	3.8
February	2.7	5.8	2.8	1.7
lsd = 1		-	-	
se = 0.4				

Chapter 5

Miscellaneous activities

Introduction

In this chapter we briefly report on three other activities undertaken during the course of the project. The first of these involved two additional experiments on time of hedging. These experiments were established in 2012 in light of the equivocal results coming out of the time of hedging trial (2009-2013) reported in Chapter 4 and in an earlier report (McFadyen *et al.* 2011). The second involved the collection of yields from a demonstration block managed by a combination of selective limb removal and side-hedging. The third involved support for grower trials funded under a separate project (MC12011 with HAL).

Time of hedging

Trees of varieties '246' and '849' were side-hedged in September or November at the Centre for Tropical Horticulture (28.9°S, 153.5°E) in 2012, with the expectation that the yields of the September hedged trees would be lower than those for the November hedged trees because younger developing fruit are more likely to abscise in response to competition for carbon from the post-hedging vegetative flush than older fruit (McFadyen *et al.* 2012).

For '246', five restrictively randomised rows were hedged in each month. For '849', four such rows were hedged each month. Yields, kernel recoveries and percentages of first grade and unsound kernel were collected as per Chapter 1. The results were analysed using general linear models.

The yields for the September and November hedged trees were not significantly different for either cultivar (P > 0.05) although the expected trends were evident with

6% more nut-in-shell at 10% moisture content (NIS) on November hedged '246' trees than on September hedged trees (14.04 versus 13.29 kg/tree) and 5% more NIS on the November hedged '849' trees than on September hedged trees (7.10 versus 6.78 kg/tree).

There were no significant differences between hedging times in kernel recovery or in the percentages of first grade or unsound kernel for either experiment (P < 0.05).

Yields from demonstration block

An experiment on the effects of early combined topping/hedging/selective limb removal on the yields and canopy size of variety '849', reported in McFadyen *et al.* (2011), was discontinued under the current project because of insufficient funds.

In late May 2011 the trial was converted into a demonstration block. All 76 trees in the original trial, which were up to 7 m in height, were brought down to 5 m using selective limb removal. The 2011 yield, before selective limb removal, was 1.8 tonnes NIS/ha. The 2012 yield, after selective limb removal, was 1.7 tonnes/ha.

In late May 2012, the trees were side-hedged and there was no additional selective limb removal. The subsequent 2013 yield was 2.5 tonnes/ha.

In late May 2013, the trees were bought down to 6 metres in height using selective limb removal, a metre higher than in 2011 due to concerns that there may be insufficient canopy to hold a satisfactory crop. The 2014 harvest will be collected under the new HAL project 'Transforming subtropical/tropical tree crop productivity (AI13004)'.

The work undertaken in the demonstration block has been an important pilot study into the use of a combination of selective limb removal and side-hedging to keep macadamia trees small and productive. A formal trial of the new strategy will be established under AI13004 through the conversion of the early tree training trial reported in Chapter 1.

Support for 'Time of flowering and pollination relevant to orchard weather conditions in Northern NSW – a growers trial group (MC12011)'

We have supported the grower trial group through assistance with the design of canopy management trials; the collation of grower collected yields from the trials; the assessment of fruit quality; the provision of long term weather records for Alstonville; and through presentations and general feedback at grower group meetings.

Reference

McFadyen L, Robertson D, Olesen T (2011) Canopy management strategies for improved and sustainable productivity. MC09003. (Horticulture Australia Limited, Sydney, Australia)

Technology transfer

Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin

McFadyen L, Robertson D (2013) Canopy management research trials – 2012 season. *Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin* **41**(1), 58-59.

McFadyen L, Allen J, Fleming G, Harris D, Newell B (2012) Limb removal. Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin **40**(2), 62-66.

McFadyen L, Vimpany I, Jones G, Rodgers D (2012) Tree removal. Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin **40**(2), 67-71.

McFadyen L, Wilson K, Mattiazzi C, Colfax N (2012) Hedging. Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin **40**(2), 72-76.

McFadyen L, Robertson D, Olesen T (2012) Time of hedging. *Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin* **40**(2), 77-80.

McFadyen L, Robertson D, Olesen T (2012) Cincturing for tree size control. Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin **40**(2), 81-83.

McFadyen L, Robertson D (2012) Early central leader pruning. *Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin* **40**(2), 84-86.

Robertson D, McFadyen L, Bright J (2012) Grower trials in tree removal. *Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin* **40**(2), 87-91.

MacSmart website

NSW DPI has contributed several videos on the canopy management of macadamia to the MacSmart website, and made available to the website managers the above articles published in the Australian Macadamia Society News Bulletin, and the final report presented here, for incorporation in edited forms on the website.

Articles in scientific journals

McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2013) Effects of girdling on fruit abscission, yield and shoot growth in macadamia. *Scientia Horticulturae* **164**, 172–177.

McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2013) Production trends in mature macadamia orchards and the effects of selective limb removal, side-hedging, and topping on yield, nut characteristics, tree size, and economics. *HortTechnology* **23**, 64-73.

McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2012) Effects of the ethylene inhibitor aminoethoxyvinylglycine (AVG) on fruit abscission and yield on pruned and unpruned macadamia trees. *Scientia Horticulturae* **137**, 125-130.

McFadyen LM, Robertson D, Sedgley M, Kristiansen P, Olesen T (2012) Time of pruning affects fruit abscission, stem carbohydrates and yield of macadamia. *Functional Plant Biology* **39**, 481-492.

Seminars

Olesen T, McFadyen L (2013) Possibilities for new canopy management research. Australian Macadamia Society Canopy Management Workshop, Brisbane. McFadyen L, Wilkie J, Huett D, Olesen T (2012) Overview of macadamia canopy management project outcomes. Australian Nut Industry Research Forum, Brisbane.

McFadyen L, Wilkie J, Huett D, Olesen T (2012) Canopy management – making macadamia orchards sustainable. Horticulture Australia Limited, Horticulture R&D Showcase 2012: Discovery to Delivery, Sydney.

Posters

McFadyen L, Robertson D, Bright J (2011) Continuing canopy management research. Australian Macadamia Conference, Noosaville.

McFadyen L, Robertson D, Wilkie J, Huett D, Olesen T (2011) Things to consider when pruning macadamia trees. Australian Macadamia Conference, Noosaville.

Recommendations

Commercial practices

- (1) The macadamia industry should reconsider its recommendation to train young trees to a central leader because the practice can lead to a substantial yield penalty.
- (2) Root pruning appears to be an effective means of controlling the vigour of macadamia trees, but growers should adopt the practice with caution because work with other crops has shown that overuse of the practice can compromise tree health.
- (3) Girdling is also an effective means of controlling vigour. Based on the results from other crops, it might yet have a beneficial effect on yields. At 6 mm wide, our girdling may have been too narrow.
- (4) The current industry recommendation for time of hedging is in late spring or early summer, instead of early spring. This recommendation stands. The overall weight of evidence points to a yield benefit, while the least supportive evidence is only that timing had no effect on yield.

Future research directions arising from the report

- More research is needed on root pruning, especially in relation to pruning techniques and the frequency of pruning.
- (2) More research is needed into branch girdling, especially in relation to the width and the depth of the girdle.

(3) More research is needed into the relationship between time of hedging and crop load, including more research into biennial bearing and age related changes in the location of the crop within the canopy.

Acknowledgements

We thank Russell Priddle, Glenn Smith, Stephen Muldoon, Robyn Andrews, Magda Verbeek, Alistair Janetzki and Tina Robertson for technical assistance; Dr David Huett, Graeme Laing and Kevin Quinlan for assistance with the design of the early tree training trial reported in Chapter 1, and Kevin Quinlan for assistance with the propagation of the trees for the trial; and Dr George Gray and Kim Wilson for kindly allowing us to conduct the time of hedging trial reported in Chapter 4 at Gray Plantations, and for their cooperation and assistance in managing the trial. The work was funded by Horticulture Australia Limited, using levy money from the Australian macadamia industry and matching funds from the Australian Government, and by the NSW government through its Department of Primary Industries.